1	IN THE SUPREME COUR	T OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		****
3	HOWARD SHAPIRO and) JENNA SHAPIRO)	Electronically Filed Oct 21 2015 09:49 a.m
5	Appellants,) vs.	Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Cour
6)	SUP. CRT. CASE NO.: 67363
7	GLEN WELT, RHODA WELT,)	
8	LYNN WELT, MICHELLE WELT,) Individuals; DOES I through X, and)	
9	ROE CORPORATIONS I through X,)	
10	Inclusive,	
11	Respondents.	
12)	
13	APPELLANTS	S' OPENING BRIEF
14		
15	ALEX GHIBAUDO Nevada Bar No. 10592	MICHAEL LOWRY Nevada Bar No. 10666
16	Schwab Law Group	Thorndal Armstrong Delk
17	2800 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 1H	Balkenbush & Eisinger
	Las Vegas, Nevada 89102	1100 E. Bridger Ave.
18	(702) 489-4442	P.O. Box 2070

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the instant matter pursuant to Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure § 3(A)(b)(1). On September 4, 2014, a complaint was filed, alleging defamation along with related claims. Subsequently, a special motion to dismiss based on Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute was filed by Defendants. On January 2, 2015 a decision was filed which dismissed Plaintiff's claim. Appellant's counsel subsequently filed the instant appeal alleging the unconstitutionally vague nature of the statute challenged and clear legal error made by Judge Nancy Alff.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is NRS 41.637(4) unconstitutionally vague on its face such that it must be struck down?
- 2. Does NRS 41.637(4) protect opinion, whether made with knowledge of falsehood or ignorance, contrary to established defamation case law to the contrary?
- 3. Is this a matter of public concern as required under NRS41.637(4)?
- 4. Does NRS 41.637(4) impermissibly protects opinion that is malicious and without truth?
- 5. Did Judge Nancy Alff commit legal error in her decision by relying on incorrect facts and a misunderstanding of *Jacobs v. Adelson*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 44 (2014)?

Statement of the Case and Facts

On or about April of 2011, Plaintiff Howard Shapiro was given power of attorney over Walter Shapiro, his father, who is now 81 years of age, to handle Walter's estate and health care. On April 24, 2014, Walter was diagnosed with Lewy Dementia. At that time, Howard exercised his power of attorney over his father and arranged for his father to live in a nursing home/assisted care facility, upon doctor's recommendations. Howard disposed of his father's property to pay for Walter's care.

It was then that Defendants Rhoda Welt and Lynn Welt went to New Jersey, where Walter lives and where the nursing home/assisted care facility was located, where they commenced a campaign of harassment of Howard and undue influence upon Walter. Defendants, in concert, reported to Adult Protective Services that Howard was abusing/neglecting his father. Upon investigation, Adult Protective Services determined that Defendants withdrew \$7,500.00 from Walter's account and forced them to return that money immediately or they would be charged with abusing an elderly person.

Despite that, Defendants, all of them, continued their campaign of harassment and undue influence, calling Howard repeatedly, almost daily, and telling Walter that Howard was taking his money. As a result, Walter called

27 28

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Howard every day to demand to know where his money was, despite the fact that Walter is incapable of making his own decisions.

On July 3, 2014, Howard's brother, Walter's son, drove Walter to Roseland, New Jersey, to reside at Solana at Roseland. At that time, Defendants Rhonda and Lynn Welt went back to their residence in Georgia.

Thereafter, Howard filed a petition for guardianship of Walter and a hearing for was scheduled for September 22, 2014. All of the Defendants were parties to the Guardianship matter *except Glenn Welt*. Since then, Glen Welt posted a website online, www.howardshapirovictims.com, which was copyrighted, in which he alleged that:

- 1. Howard has stolen over \$780,000.00 in cash and assets, and the same was awarded in liens and judgments. (See Exhibit 1).
- 2. That Howard has filed several bankruptcies, that he has a criminal record, and 20 judgments made against him in the amount of \$361,871.00. That that money is owed to a public defender and a drug and rehabilitation center, in addition to multiple credit cards and other debts. (See Exhibit 1).
- 3. That Walter Shapiro's life is in danger because he gave Howard power of attorney over him. That that decision cost Walter \$430,000.00, including a \$100,000.00 loan that Walter allegedly gave to Howard.
- 4. That Howard committed the following "heinous acts":
- 5. That Howard abducted his father from his home and held him against his will;
- 6. That Howard sold his father's home for \$230,000.00 and kept the proceeds for himself;
- 7. That Howard stole tangible and intangible goods, including large sums of cash and furniture, from his father;
- 8. That Howard diverted all of Walter's retirement payments to himself.
- 9. That Howard blocked Walter from any contact with his relatives;

1	10. That Howard left his father with no money;
2	11.That Howard prevented others from purchasing food for his father; 12.That Howard has threatened his father's life;
3	13. That Howard stole his father's money and bragged about traveling with
4	it;
5	14.Howard may be carrying concealed weapons; and 15.That Howard is lying about his home and business, listing a specific
	address belonging to Howard.
6	16.Defendants further provide a photograph of Howard's vehicle and
7	license plate number and encouraged the public to attend the adult guardianship proceedings indicated above.
8	17.That the website was "recorded by two (2) witnesses", believed to a
9	combination of the other named Defendants.
0	18. That the webmaster is Defendant Glenn Welt, who informed Howard
11	by email that he was posting the website. (See Exhibit 2). 19.That various iterations of the website were previously posted. (See
12	Exhibit 3).
13	20. That Defendant Glenn Welt, in concert with other named Defendants,
14	attempted to extort Howard in a letter dated August 11, 2014, by threatening public humiliation, civil action, and criminal charges if his
15	demands are not met, which include returning cash and property
16	allegedly stolen by Howard, presumably to Defendant Glenn Welt. (See
17	Exhibit 4). 21.That Defendants conduct is ongoing and persistent, requiring the
	instant legal action. ¹
18	
[9	None one of these allegations is true. Based on these statements, Howard and
20	his wife filed a complaint alleging: 1) Defamation per se, 2) Defamation, 3)
21	
22	Extortion, 4) Civil conspiracy, 5) Fraud, and 6) Punitive damages. Defendants
23	filed a special motion to dismiss citing NRS 41.637, Nevada's Anti-SLAAP statute.
24	
25	That motion was granted. This appeal followed.
26	Legal Analysis
27	
28	See AA 2-5 and all exhibits attached to Plaintiffs' complaint.
	i Dec A.A. Z-D ard all extributs allached to fiailletts. Combiannt.

I. NRS 41.637(4) is unconstitutional on its face because it is in direct contravention of established defamation law

a. Standard of Review

The United States Supreme Court (SCOTUS) has determined that "in cases raising First Amendment issues . . . an appellate court has an obligation to 'make an independent examination of the whole record' in order to make sure that 'the judgment does not constitute a forbidden intrusion on the field of free expression." *Bose Corp.* v. *Consumers Union of United States, Inc.*, 466 U.S. 485, 499, 80 L. Ed. 2d 502, 104 S. Ct. 1949 (1984) (quoting *New York Times*, 376 U.S. at 284-286)."The question whether the evidence in the record in a defamation case is sufficient to support a finding of actual malice is a question of law." *Harte-Hanks Communications, Inc.* v. *Connaughton*, 491 U.S. 657, 685, 105 L. Ed. 2d 562, 109 S. Ct. 2678 (1989).

b. Brief History of the Law of Defamation in the United States

1. Public figures and officials

In 1964, SCOTUS held in *New York Times Co.* v. *Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 11 L. Ed. 2d 686, 84 S. Ct. 710, that the First Amendment to the United States Constitution placed limits on the application of the state law of defamation. There the Court recognized the need for:

a federal rule that prohibits a public official from recovering damages for a defamatory falsehood relating to his official conduct unless he proves that the statement was made with 'actual malice' -- that is, with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not. *Id.*, at 279-280.

At the time, the concern was that, with respect to the criticism of public officials in their conduct of governmental affairs, a state-law "rule compelling the critic of official conduct to guarantee the truth of all his factual assertions' would deter protected speech." *Gertz* v. *Robert Welch, Inc., 323 Nev.* 334 (1974) (quoting *New York Times, supra*, at 279).

Three years later, in *Curtis Publishing Co.* v. *Butts*, 388 U.S. 130, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1094, 87 S. Ct. 1975 (1967), a majority of the Court determined:

the *New York Times* test should apply to criticism of 'public figures' as well as 'public officials.' The Court extended the constitutional privilege announced in that case to protect defamatory criticism of nonpublic persons 'who are nevertheless intimately involved in the resolution of important public questions or, by reason of their fame, shape events in areas of concern to society at large." *Gertz*, 418 U.S. at 336-337 (quoting *Butts*, 388 U.S. at 164 (Warren, C. J., concurring in result)).

in concurrence, Chief Justice Warren noted:

our citizenry has a legitimate and substantial interest in the conduct of such persons, and freedom of the press to engage in uninhibited debate about their involvement in public issues and events is as crucial as it is in the case of 'public officials. *Butts, supra*, at 164.

The Court has also determined that both for public officials and public figures, a showing of *New York Times* malice is subject to a clear and convincing standard of proof. *Gertz*, 418 U.S. at 342.

2. Private individuals

The next step in this constitutional evolution was the Court's consideration of a private individual's defamation actions involving statements of public concern. There, the Court ultimately concluded that the *New York Times* malice standard was inappropriate for a private person attempting to prove he was defamed on matters of public interest. *Gertz* v. *Robert Welch, Inc., supra*. As the Court explained:

Public officials and public figures usually enjoy significantly greater access to the channels of effective communication and hence have a more realistic opportunity to counteract false statements than private individuals normally enjoy

[More important,] public officials and public figures have voluntarily exposed themselves to increased risk of injury from defamatory falsehood concerning them. No such assumption is justified with respect to a private individual." 418 U.S. at 344-345 (footnote omitted).

Nonetheless, the Court believed that certain significant constitutional protections were warranted in this area. First, the Court held that the States could not impose liability without requiring some showing of fault. See *id.*, at 347-348 ("This approach . . . recognizes the strength of the legitimate state interest in

compensating private individuals for wrongful injury to reputation, yet shields the press and broadcast media from the rigors of strict liability for defamation").

Second, the Court held that the States could not permit recovery of presumed or punitive damages on less than a showing of *New York Times* malice. See 418 U.S. at 350 ("Like the doctrine of presumed damages, jury discretion to award punitive damages unnecessarily exacerbates the danger of media self-censorship . . .").

Still later, in *Philadelphia Newspapers, Inc.* v. *Hepps*, 475 U.S. 767, 89 L. Ed. 2d 783, 106 S. Ct. 1558 (1986), the Court held that "the common-law presumption that defamatory speech is false cannot stand when a plaintiff seeks damages against a media defendant for speech of public concern." *Id.*, at 777.

In other words, the Court fashioned "a constitutional requirement that the plaintiff bear the burden of showing falsity, as well as fault, before recovering damages." *Id.*, at 776. Although recognizing that "requiring the plaintiff to show falsity will insulate from liability some speech that is false, but unprovably so," the Court believed that this result was justified on the grounds that "placement by state law of the burden of proving truth upon media defendants who publish speech of public concern deters such speech because of the fear that liability will unjustifiably result." *Id.*, at 777-778.

3. Specific Types of Protected Speech

The SCOTUS also recognized constitutional limits on the type of speech which may be the subject of state defamation actions. Next, the Bresler-Letter Carriers-Falwell line of cases provides protection for statements that cannot "reasonably [be] interpreted as stating actual facts" about an individual. Falwell, 485 U.S. at 50. This provides assurance that public debate will not suffer for lack of "imaginative expression" or the "rhetorical hyperbole" which has traditionally added much to the discourse of our Nation. See id., at 53-55.

The New York Times-Butts-Gertz culpability requirements further ensure that debate on public issues remains "uninhibited, robust, and wide-open." New York Times, 376 U.S. at 270. Thus, where a statement of "opinion" on a matter of public concern reasonably implies false and defamatory facts regarding public figures or officials, those individuals must show that such statements were made with knowledge of their false implications or with reckless disregard of their truth. Similarly, where such a statement involves a private figure on a matter of public concern, a plaintiff must show that the false connotations were made with some level of fault as required by Gertz. Finally, the enhanced appellate review required by Bose Corp. provides assurance that the foregoing determinations will be made in a manner so as not to "constitute a forbidden intrusion of the field of free expression." Bose Corp., 466 U.S. at 499 (quotation omitted).

1

3

2

4 5

6 7

8

10

11

12 13

14

15 16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25 26

27

The numerous decisions discussed above establishing First Amendment protection for defendants in defamation actions demonstrate the Court's recognition of the Amendment's vital guarantee of free and uninhibited discussion of public issues.

4. Limits on Free Speech

But there is also another side to the equation; the SCOTUS have regularly acknowledged the "important social values which underlie the law of defamation," and recognized that "society has a pervasive and strong interest in preventing and redressing attacks upon reputation." Rosenblatt v. Baer, 383 U.S. 75, 86, 15 L. Ed. 2d 597, 86 S. Ct. 669 (1966). Justice Stewart in that case put it with his customary clarity:

"The right of a man to the protection of his own reputation from unjustified invasion and wrongful hurt reflects no more than our basic concept of the essential dignity and worth of every human being -- a concept at the root of any decent system of ordered liberty.

Furthermore, in *Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co.*, 497 U.S. 1, 14-23 (1990), the SCOTUS noted that:

"The destruction that defamatory falsehood can bring is, to be sure, often beyond the capacity of the law to redeem. Yet, imperfect though it is, an action for damages is the only hope for vindication or redress the law gives to a man whose reputation has been falsely dishonored." 383 U.S. at 92-93 (concurring opinion).

Expressions of opinion are generally accorded absolute immunity from liability under the First Amendment. *Trump* v.. *Chicago Tribune Co.* (D. N.Y. 1985), 616 F. Supp. 1434, 1435; *Gertz* v.. *Robert Welch, Inc., supra,* at 339; *Chaves* v. *Johnson* (Va. 1985), 335 S.E. 2d 97, 102. The determination of whether an averred defamatory statement constitutes opinion or fact is a question of law, properly within the Nevada Supreme Court's purview. *Scott v. News-Herald*, 25 Ohio St. 3d 243, 250, 496 N.E.2d 699, 705 (1986); *Ollman* v. *Evans* (C.A. D.C. 1984), 750 F.2d 970, 978; *Rinsley* v.. *Brandt* (C.A. 10, 1983), 700 F.2d 1304, 1309; *Lewis* v.. *Time, Inc.* (C.A. 9, 1983), 710 F.2d 549, 553; *Slawik* v.. *News-Journal Co.* (Del. 1981), 428 A.2d 15, 17.

Where a statement of "opinion" on a matter of public concern reasonably implies false and defamatory facts regarding public figures or officials, those individuals must show that such statements were made with knowledge of their false implications or with reckless disregard of their truth. *Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co.*, 497 U.S. 1, 20-21, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 2706-07 (1990). Similarly, where such a statement involves a private figure on a matter of public concern, a plaintiff must show that the false connotations were made with some level of fault as required by *Gertz*. The Federal Ninth Circuit has promulgated a three-part test which holds those statements which "* * * convey pertinent information to the public about a matter of public interest, * * * are made in the course of a public

debate or similar circumstances, and * * * are phrased in cautionary language" are opinion. *Scott v. News-Herald*, 25 Ohio St. 3d 243, 250, 496 N.E.2d 699, 705-06 (1986); *Murray* v. *Bailey* (N.D. Cal. 1985), 613 F.Supp. 1276, 1282; *Information Control Corp.* v. *Genesis One Computer Corp.* (C.A. 9, 1980) 611 F.2d 781.

- II. NRS 41.637(4) protects opinion, whether made with knowledge of falsehood or ignorance, contrary to established defamation case law to the contrary demonstrated supra.
 - a. NRS 41.637(4) impermissibly protects opinion that is malicious and without truth.

NRS 41.637(4) provides that if an action is brought against a person based upon good faith communication, the person may file a special motion to dismiss the claim. If a special motion to dismiss is filed, the court must first determine whether the moving party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern. If the court determines that the moving party has met this burden, the court must then determine whether the person who brought the claim has established by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim. While the court's ruling on the special motion to dismiss is pending and while the disposition of any appeal from that ruling is pending, the court must stay discovery.

The precise language is: "Communication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum, which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." An opinion is defined as "a view or judgment formed about something, not necessarily based on fact or knowledge." That definition fits the language above perfectly. Thus, what NRS 41.637(4) is designed to protect is opinion. However, Defendants' website contained no opinion as that is defined in *Scott v. News-Herald*, supra.

First, it conveys *no* pertinent information to the public about a matter of public interest. Rather, the matter is a private family matter concerning the guardianship of an elderly family member. Nothing about such information renders it of public concern. Second, there is no public debate about this private family matter. The case is not notorious, newsworthy, or otherwise intereting to the public at large. Thus, it has no public value. Third, there is nothing close to be cautious about what is written or posted on the complained of website. Rather the information is inflammatory and aimed at doing damage and, perhaps even, persuade Appellants from pursuing guardianship of Appellant Howard Shapiro. Therefore, what is being dealt with is facts that are blatantly false and made maliciously.

The statements made, contained in the complaint, are certainly false connotations made with a high level of fault. Allegations of kidnapping, theft,

elder abuse and the like cannot be confused with anything but connotations made with a high level of fault. Therefore, NRS 41.637(4) is in contravention of ancient common-law claims for defamation and are thus unconstitutionally vague as they create confusion concerning when a defamation case can be made and under what circumstances.

b. This is not a matter of public concern as required under NRS 41.637(4).

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