1 **THORNDAL, ARMSTRONG, DELK,**
2 **BALKENBUSH & EISINGER**

3 Michael P. Lowry, Esq.
4 Nevada Bar No. 10666
5 P.O. Drawer 2070
6 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125-2070
7 Tel: (702) 366-0622
8 Fax: (702) 366-0327
9 Email: mlowry@thorndal.com
10 Attorneys for Glenn Welt, Rhoda Welt,
11 Lynn Welt and Michele Welt

Electronically Filed
Nov 23 2015 03:00 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

7 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA**

8 HOWARD SHAPIRO and JENNA
9 SHAPIRO

10 Appellants/Cross-Respondents

11 v.

12 GLENN WELT, RHODA WELT,
13 LYNN WELT, and MICHELLE
14 WELT,

15 Respondents/Cross-Appellants

Supreme Ct. No. 67363
Dist. Ct. No. A-14-706566-C

**RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING

20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 **NRAP 26.1 Disclosure**

2 The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons
3 and entities, as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed. These
4 representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate
5 possible disqualification or recusal.

6 1. Parent Corporation: None

7 2. Publicly held company that owns 10% or more of the party's stock:
8 None.

9 3. Law firms who have appeared or are expected to appear for Glenn
10 Welt, Rhoda Welt, Lynn Welt, and Michele Welt: Thorndal Armstrong Delk
11 Balkenbush & Eisinger.

12 DATED this 23rd day of November, 2015.

13 THORNDAL, ARMSTRONG,
14 DELK, BALKENBUSH & EISINGER

15 /s/ *Michael P. Lowry*

16 _____
17 Michael P. Lowry, Esq.
18 P.O. Drawer 2070
19 Las Vegas, NV 89125-2070
20 Attorneys for Glenn Welt, Rhoda Welt,
21 Lynn Welt and Michele Welt
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 **Attorney's Certificate of Compliance**

2 1. I certify that this brief complies with the formatting requirements of
3 NRAP 32(a)(4), the typeface requirements of NRAP 32(a)(5) and the type style
4 requirements of NRAP 32(a)(6) because it has been prepared in a proportionally
5 spaced typeface using Microsoft Word 2007 in 14 point Times New Roman.

6 2. I further certify that this brief complies with the page- or type-volume
7 limitations of NRAP 32(a)(7) because, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by
8 NRAP 32(a)(7)(C), it is proportionately spaced, has a typeface of 14 points or
9 more, and contains 5,081 words.

10 3. Finally, I certify that I have read this petition, and to the best of my
11 knowledge, information, and belief, it is not frivolous or interposed for any
12 improper purpose. I further certify that this petition complies with all applicable
13 Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, in particular NRAP 28(e)(1), which requires
14 every assertion in the petition regarding matters in the record to be supported by a
15 reference to the page and volume number, if any, of the transcript or appendix
16 where the matter relied on is to be found. I understand that I may be subject to
17 sanctions in the event that the accompanying petition is not in conformity with the
18 requirements of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure.

19 DATED this 23rd day of November, 2015.

20 THORNDAL, ARMSTRONG,
21 DELK, BALKENBUSH & EISINGER

22 */s/ Michael P. Lowry*

23

Michael P. Lowry, Esq.
24 P.O. Drawer 2070
25 Las Vegas, NV 89125-2070
26 Attorneys for Glenn Welt, Rhoda Welt,
27 Lynn Welt and Michele Welt
28

1 **Certificate of Service**

2 Pursuant to NRAP 25, on November 23, 2015 **RESPONDENTS'**
3 **ANSWERING BRIEF (67363) AND OPENING BRIEF (67596)** was served
4 upon each of the parties to appeal 67363 via electronic service through the
5 Supreme Court of Nevada's electronic filing.

6
7 */s/ Michael P. Lowry*

8

An Employee of Thorndal, Armstrong,
9 Delk, Balkenbush & Eisinger

1 **Jurisdictional Statement**

2 The parties have filed cross-appeals. On January 2, 2015 notice of entry
3 occurred as to the district court’s order granting the Welts’ motion to dismiss.¹
4 The Shapiros filed their notice of appeal from that order on February 2, 2015.² The
5 Shapiros’ appeal is from a final judgment.³ The Welts filed a cross-appeal of this
6 final judgment on February 13, 2015.⁴

7 On January 5, 2015 the Welts filed the affidavit requested by the district
8 court concerning recoverable attorneys’ fees and costs authorized by NRS 41.670.⁵
9 On February 20, 2015 the district court entered its order granting certain attorneys’
10 fees and costs.⁶ Notice of entry of this order occurred on February 23, 2015.⁷ The
11 Welts’ then appealed this order on March 14, 2015.⁸ The Welts’ appeal is from an
12 order modifying a final judgment.⁹

13 **Statement of the Issues Presented for Review**

14 1. Was the district court correct to grant the Welts’ NRS 41.660 special
15 motion to dismiss?

16 2. Did the district court abuse its discretion by misinterpreting NRS
17 41.670(1)(a) to limit the attorney’s fees the Welts could recover to only those
18 incurred concerning their motion to dismiss? This is an issue of first impression.

19 3. Did the district court abuse its discretion by denying, without
20 explanation, the Welts’ request for relief per NRS 41.670(1)(b)?
21
22

23 ¹ Respondents’ Appendix at 161-165.

24 ² *Id.* at 188-189.

25 ³ NRAP 3A(b)(1).

26 ⁴ Respondents’ Appendix at 190-191.

27 ⁵ *Id.* at 166-184.

28 ⁶ *Id.* at 192-194.

⁷ *Id.* at 195-199.

⁸ *Id.* at 200-201.

⁹ NRAP 3A(b)(1).

1 4. If the district court did abuse its discretion as to NRS 41.670(1)(b),
2 what factors should a district court consider in deciding whether to issue an award
3 such as NRS 41.670(1)(b) provides? This is an issue of first impression.

4 **Statement of the Case**

5 The genesis of this litigation is a conservatorship petition being litigated in
6 New Jersey. Walter Shapiro is the father of plaintiff Howard Shapiro.¹⁰ On
7 August 5, 2014 Howard petitioned a New Jersey court to appoint him as Walter's
8 conservator.¹¹ The Welts are relatives of Walter and oppose Howard's petition.¹²
9 Although not listed in the petition, Glenn Welt is Walter's nephew. Glenn Welt
10 created a website that concerns the New Jersey petition,
11 www.howardshapirovictims.com.

12 After the website was created, the Shapiros filed their civil complaint in
13 Nevada on September 4, 2014.¹³ On December 15, 2014 the Welts filed their
14 motion to dismiss¹⁴ that the district court granted on January 2, 2015.¹⁵ The district
15 court then granted in part and denied in part the Welts' statutory request for
16 attorneys' fees on February 20, 2015.¹⁶

17 **Statement of the Facts**

18 The genesis of this litigation is a conservatorship petition being litigated in
19 New Jersey. Walter Shapiro is the father of plaintiff Howard Shapiro. On August
20 5, 2014 Howard petitioned a New Jersey court to appoint him as Walter's
21 conservator.¹⁷ The petition alleged Walter is allegedly no longer mentally fit to
22 care for himself. The Welts are relatives of Walter and oppose Howard's

23 ¹⁰ To avoid confusion arising from identical last names, the parties are referenced
24 by their first names.

25 ¹¹ Respondents' Appendix at 52-74.

26 ¹² *Id.* at 76-81.

27 ¹³ *Id.* at 1-24.

28 ¹⁴ *Id.* at 28-103.

¹⁵ *Id.* at 158-160.

¹⁶ *Id.* at 192-194.

¹⁷ *Id.* at 52-74.

1 petition.¹⁸ Allen Shapiro, Walter’s brother, also vehemently opposes Howard’s
2 petition.¹⁹ It appears even Walter opposes the petition based upon his statements to
3 his court appointed attorney requesting that Michele Welt be appointed as
4 conservator of his property.²⁰ Although not listed in the petition, Glenn Welt is
5 Walter’s nephew.

6 The Nevada complaint alleges defamation arising from a website that
7 concerns the New Jersey petition, www.howardshapirovictims.com. It notes Glenn
8 Welt is the webmaster for this website.²¹ The complaint attaches an email and
9 letter from Glenn Welt stating he will be post the website for public viewing.²²
10 Mr. Welt’s stated goal is to invite Howard Shapiro’s “known victims to appear in
11 court along with other caretakers, neighbors, acquaintances and relatives you’ve
12 threatened.”

13 Mr. Welt’s statements upon the website were based, in part, upon a
14 background check concerning Howard Shapiro.²³ It also relied upon publicly
15 available property records to accurately note the foreclosure status of Howard’s
16 home.²⁴

17 **Summary of the Argument**

18 **A. The Shapiros’ Appeal**

19 The Shapiros’ complaint arose from statements made in direct connection to
20 a New Jersey conservatorship proceeding involving the parties. The complaint’s
21 goal was to silence the Shapiros’ critics in the New Jersey case, a result explicitly
22 barred by Nevada’s anti-SLAPP statutes.

24 ¹⁸ *Id.* at 76-81.

25 ¹⁹ *Id.* at 83.

26 ²⁰ *Id.* at 85.

27 ²¹ *Id.* at 6, ¶ 20.

28 ²² *Id.* at 17, 23-24.

²³ *Id.* at 88-97.

²⁴ *Id.* at 99-103.

1 As the statute itself is silent, it is appropriate to consider its legislative
2 history. During the legislative process, the lead sponsors of Senate Bill 286, the
3 bill that eventually was enacted, twice testified in committee hearings that the bill
4 was derived from a substantively similar Washington statute.²⁸ By borrowing from
5 Washington, Nevada implicitly adopted Washington caselaw interpreting that
6 statute as it then existed in 2013.²⁹

7 In Washington, an anti-SLAPP motion was subject to de novo review
8 whether granted or denied.³⁰ Washington courts concluded “the procedure for
9 deciding anti-SLAPP motions is similar to that used in deciding a motion for
10 summary judgment.”³¹ Statutorily, the court “shall consider pleadings and
11 supporting and opposing affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or
12 defense is based. However, the trial court may not find facts, but rather must view
13 the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the
14 plaintiff.”³²

15 Although the Nevada Legislature deleted specific language stating an anti-
16 SLAPP motion is to be reviewed like a motion for summary judgment, the
17 legislative history and reliance upon Washington caselaw indicates a similar
18 standard of review still applies.

19 ///

20 ///

21 ///

23 ²⁸ Minutes of the Senate Committee on Judiciary, March 28, 2013, at 16; Minutes
24 of the Assembly Committee on Judiciary, May 6, 2013, at 5-6.

25 ²⁹ *International Game Technology, Inc. v. Dist. Ct.*, 122 Nev. 132, 153, 127 P.3d
26 1088, 1103 (2006) (“When the Legislature adopts a statute substantially similar to
27 a federal statute, a presumption arises that the legislature knew and intended to
28 adopt the construction placed on the federal statute by federal courts.”).

³⁰ *Davis v. Cox*, 325 P.3d 255, 263 (Wash. App. 2014) (overruled on other grounds
by *Davis v. Cox*, 351 P.3d 862 (Wash. 2015)).

³¹ *Id.*

³² *Id.* at 263-64 (citations and quotations omitted).

1 **B. The Shapiros lack an adequate record to meet their appellate**
2 **burden.**

3 “[A]n appellant’s appendix must include any portion of the record that is
4 necessary for this court’s determination of the issues raised on appeal.³³ “[T]his
5 court has made it clear that appellants are responsible for making an adequate
6 appellate record.”³⁴ Appellate courts “generally cannot consider matters not
7 contained in the record on appeal.”³⁵ “When an appellant fails to include necessary
8 documentation in the record, we necessarily presume that the missing portion
9 supports the district court’s decision.”³⁶

10 For instance, the appendix in *Cuzze* was insufficient and the judgment was
11 summarily affirmed. The appendix contained, “among other things, their answers
12 to interrogatories, and a copy of a Las Vegas Review-Journal newspaper article,
13 but no opposition to the summary judgment motion. Without the opposition, these
14 documents have no context, and we are unable to discern, with any certainty, that
15 they were even submitted with the opposition.”³⁷

16 Here, the Shapiros’ appendix contains only two documents: 1) their
17 complaint; and 2) the district court’s order granting the Welts’ motion to dismiss.
18 The appendix contains none of the other documentation NRAP 30(b)(3) requires
19 and none of the “other portions of the record essential to determination of issues
20 raised in appellant’s appeal.” The Shapiros’ appendix lacks anything that would
21 permit an appellate court to determine what happened in the district court and
22 evaluate the parties’ arguments. As an example, the Shapiros’ brief repeatedly

23 ³³ *Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev.*, 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131, 135
24 (2007) (citing NRAP 30(b)(3)); “Traditionally, when evidence on which the lower
25 court’s judgment rests is not included in the record on appeal, it is assumed that the
record supports the district court’s findings.” *Schouweiler v. Yancey Co.*, 101 Nev.
827, 831, 712 P.2d 786, 789 (1985) (quotation and citation omitted).

26 ³⁴ *Id.*

27 ³⁵ *Id.*

28 ³⁶ *Id.*

³⁷ *Id.* at 603-04, 172 P.3d at 135.

1 asserts the statements on www.howardshapirovictims.com were false yet the
2 appendix contains no support for this argument. As a result, it must be presumed
3 that the missing sections of the appendix support the district court's decision.
4 Based upon the documents the Shapiros chose to include in their appendix, there is
5 no basis to conclude the district court erred granting the Welts' motion to dismiss.

6 The Shapiros may not now supplement or revise their opening brief or
7 appendix. Although *Cuzze* seemed to imply such supplementation is permissible,³⁸
8 the Supreme Court later noted it was not. In *Sanchez v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.* the
9 appellants filed a supplemental brief after briefing had concluded. "In that
10 supplemental brief, appellants provided additional authority, which was available
11 when their reply brief was filed, and appellants asserted a new argument that was
12 not previously raised in their opening or reply briefs."³⁹

13 Here, the documentation upon which the Shapiros' appeal presumably relies
14 has existed since January 2, 2015 when the district court entered its order granting
15 the Welts' motion to dismiss. If the Shapiros wished to include this documentation
16 in their brief and appendix, they had ample time to do so. Allowing the Shapiros
17 to include this documentation in their reply brief and appendix prejudices the
18 Welts because it denies them an opportunity to respond.⁴⁰ Courts cannot consider
19 new evidence provided in a reply when the other party does not have an
20 opportunity to respond.⁴¹

21 **C. The Welts' statements are statutorily protected.**

22 If the Court decides the Shapiros' appeal on its merits, it conducts a two step
23 analysis to evaluate an anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss. It first determines

24 ³⁸ *Id.* at 604, 172 P.3d at 135 ("In their answering brief, respondents point out that
25 appellants failed to include necessary documents in their appendix. Despite this
26 notice, appellants failed to take any steps to supplement their appendix with the
missing documents.").

³⁹ 125 Nev. 818, 829 n.7, 221 P.3d 1276, 1284 (2009).

⁴⁰ *Tovar v. United States Postal Service*, 3 F.3d 1271, 1273 n.3 (9th Cir. 1993).

⁴¹ *Provenz v. Miller*, 102 F.3d 1478, 1483 (9th Cir. 1996).

1 “whether the moving party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence,
2 that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right
3 to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public
4 concern.”⁴² If the moving party meets its burden, the court then determines
5 “whether the plaintiff has established by clear and convincing evidence a
6 probability of prevailing on the claim.”⁴³ The Shapiros’ appeal concerns only the
7 first step: did the Welts demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the
8 Shapiros’ claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the
9 right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of
10 public concern? If the Welts met this burden, the Shapiros’ do not argue they
11 could establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on
12 their claim. Given this, the focus of the Shapiros appeal is exclusively upon the
13 first step.

14 **i. The Welts’ statements arose from their right to petition in**
15 **direction connection with an issue of public concern.**

16 Nevada’s anti-SLAPP statutes are invoked when “an action is brought
17 against a person based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of ... the
18 right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern”⁴⁴ NRS
19 41.637 defines the phrase “[g]ood faith communication in furtherance of the right
20 ... to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern.” This
21 phrase includes a “[w]ritten or oral statement made in direct connection with an
22 issue under consideration by a legislative, executive or judicial body, or any other
23 official proceeding authorized by law.”⁴⁵ It also includes “[c]ommunication made
24 in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or
25

26 ⁴² NRS 41.660(3)(a).

27 ⁴³ NRS 41.660(3)(b).

28 ⁴⁴ NRS 41.660(1).

⁴⁵ NRS 41.637(3).

1 in a public forum.”⁴⁶ These protections extend to any communication “which is
2 truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood.”⁴⁷ Neither of these
3 definitions has yet been interpreted by a Nevada appellate court.

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